



VICTORIA UNIVERSITY
MELBOURNE AUSTRALIA

A qualitative evaluation of the questionnaire about the process of recovery (QPR) in culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) populations

This is the Accepted version of the following publication

Kakuma, Ritsuko, Cajethan, Onah Uchenna, Shawyer, F, Edan, V, Wilson-Evered, Elisabeth, Meadows, Graham and Brophy, L (2024) A qualitative evaluation of the questionnaire about the process of recovery (QPR) in culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) populations. *International Journal of Migration, Health and Social Care*, 20 (1). pp. 88-103. ISSN 1747-9894

The publisher's official version can be found at
<https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/IJMHS-05-2023-0042/full/html>
Note that access to this version may require subscription.

Downloaded from VU Research Repository <https://vuir.vu.edu.au/48304/>

1 **A qualitative evaluation of the Questionnaire about the Process of Recovery**
2 **(QPR) in culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) populations**What is the
3 **cross-cultural relevance of The Questionnaire about the Process of Recovery**
4 **(QPR)?**

5
6 Authors: Ritsuko Kakuma^{1,2}, Onah Uchenna Cajethan³, Frances Shawyer⁴, Vrinda Edan^{1,4}, Elisabeth
7 Wilson-Evered⁵, Graham Meadows^{1,4,6}, Lisa Brophy^{1,7}

8
9 ¹ Centre for Mental Health, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of
10 Melbourne

11 ²Centre for Global Mental Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine

12 ³ Federal Ministry of Women Affairs and Social Development, Abuja, Nigeria

13 ⁴ Southern Synergy, Department of Psychiatry, School of Clinical Sciences at Monash Health,
14 Monash University

15 ⁵ Institute of Health and Sport, Victoria University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

16 ⁶ Monash Health, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

17 ⁷ School of Allied Health, Human Services and Sport , LaTrobe University

18
19 Email addresses:

20 Elisabeth Wilson-Evered Elisabeth.wilson-evered@vu.edu.au

21 Frances Shawyer frances.shawyer@monash.edu

Commented [DB1]: Very minor suggestion but would, "Cross-cultural applicability of The Questionnaire about the Process of Recovery (QPR) in CALD populations" be a little more descriptive? Or even just "The Questionnaire about the Process of Recovery (QPR) in CALD populations"

Use of the term "CALD" will probably help the paper perform better with regards with to SEO.

22 Graham Meadows graham.meadows@monash.edu

23 Lisa Brophy L.Brophy@latrobe.edu.au

24 Uchenna Onah Cajethan cuonah@gmail.com

25 Vrinda Edan v.edan@unimelb.edu.au

26

27 Corresponding Authors details:

28 Centre for Global Mental Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine

29 Address: 142b, Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT United Kingdom

30 T: +44 (0)207 958 8123

31 E: ritsuko.kakuma@lshtm.ac.uk

32

33 Target journal: Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology

34 Word count: 5614 (not including abstract, declarations, references or table)

35 Abstract: 250 words (250 words max)

36 **Keywords:** personal recovery; mental ~~illness~~health; outcome measurement; [questionnaire](#);

37 culturally and linguistically diverse; [CALD](#); [QPR](#); [migrant](#), [Australia](#), [refugee](#), [asylum seeker??](#)

38

39

40

Commented [DB2]: "Your submission should include up to 12 appropriate and short keywords that capture the principal topics of the paper."

Not sure whether this is 12 individual words or 12 terms.

Commented [DB3]: Is this too broad?

Perhaps "mental illness" might be a little more specific; "mental health" is thrown around very liberally these days.

41

42

43 **Abstract**

44 **Background:** Australia is an increasingly culturally diverse society. While the mental health of
45 migrants is a societal concern to all nations, conceptualisation of mental health recovery across
46 cultures is poorly understood and suitable measures are lacking. The Questionnaire about the
47 Process of Recovery (QPR) is a self-report instrument measuring personal recovery outcomes for
48 patients of mental health services. However, the extent of its relevance among culturally and
49 linguistically diverse (CALD) communities in Australia is unclear.

50 **Objectives:** This pilot study aimed to examine the relevance and utility of the QPR among CALD
51 patients of primary mental health services.

52 **Methodology:** Eleven individual, semi-structured interviews were conducted with two general
53 practitioners (GPs) and nine patients from two clinics, at locations with high Iranian and Burmese
54 refugees or asylum seekers populations. Interviews were transcribed and analysed using thematic
55 framework approach.

56 **Results:** Almost all patients had little or no knowledge about the concept of personal recovery.
57 Nevertheless, the QPR was generally considered culturally acceptable and understandable. Using
58 the QPR during mental health consultations can help with needs identification and goal-setting.
59 Challenges in using the QPR included completion time, cross-cultural differences in concepts and
60 norms for some items, and the need for careful translation. Patients suggested additional items
61 relating to family reputation, sexuality and spirituality.

62 **Conclusion:** The QPR is potentially a valuable tool to support mental health consultations with
63 CALD patients from the perspectives of both GPs and patients. However, improvements in its
64 usability and usefulness across cultures and evaluation with larger diverse samples are needed.

65

66 **1. Introduction**

67 The conceptualisation, experience, and prevalence of mental health and ill-health varies across
68 cultures. ~~The~~ fields of transcultural psychiatry and global mental health have been dedicated to
69 examining how to provide culturally appropriate mental health services. Australia has welcomed 1.3
70 million migrants since 2011 from approximately 180 countries, and about 29% of Australian residents
71 are reported to have been born overseas; the majority of whom are from Asia (Australian Bureau of
72 Statistics, 2020). A priority for Australia is to respond to the mental health care needs of its “fast-
73 changing, ever-expanding, culturally diverse nation” (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2017).

74 In recent years, the approach to mental health care in countries ~~such as including~~ the US, UK,
75 Canada, Australia, and New Zealand, has shifted to ~~encompass wards~~ a recovery-oriented focus.
76 This approach considers and respects patients' desires and preferences in their mental health care
77 planning, ~~including the incorporation of and incorporates~~ socially and individually valued roles and
78 goals (De Vecchi et al., 2015; Lloyd et al., 2008; Slade, 2010). Numerous frameworks for
79 understanding recovery exist (Lapsley et al., 2002; Slade, 2009), ~~one of which is including~~ the CHIME
80 Framework, comprising: Connectedness, Hope and optimism, Identify, Meaning and purpose, and
81 Empowerment (Leamy et al., 2011). This framework has been applied in ~~the~~ conceptualisations of
82 *personal recovery* across community-based mental health teams (Slade et al., 2015) and in culturally
83 and linguistically diverse (CALD) communities in Australia (Brijnath, 2015). *Personal recovery has*
84 *been defined as “being able to create and live a meaningful and contributing life in a community of*
85 *choice with or without the presence of mental health issues” (Australian Government Department of*
86 *Health, 2013).*

87
88 A yet under-researched and poorly understood aspect of mental health is the way in which mental
89 health recovery is conceptualised, defined, and measured across cultures (Kirmayer, 2012; 2006;
90 Slade et al., 2014; Tesfaye et al., 2010). ~~The impacts of the~~ multiple forms of migration (in Australia

Commented [JS4]: Would some detail explaining this construct be a good addition?

Formatted: Font: Italic

91 and globally) adds to the challenge of understanding mental health recovery, and how ~~that they~~
92 affects the mental health needs, and service response in culturally diverse communities.

93 A systematic review of all existing mental health recovery measures (Shanks et al., 2013) identified
94 13 measurement tools, among which the Questionnaire About the Process of Recovery (QPR) (Neil
95 et al., 2009) was ~~the only one to~~unique in having all its items map onto the CHIME framework. The
96 QPR is a 22-item, ~~patient~~ self-rated, subjective outcome measure of personal recovery ~~consisting~~
97 ~~of comprising~~ two sub-scales: intrapersonal (17 items) and interpersonal (five items). Although the
98 QPR has been translated successfully into Chinese ~~in Hong Kong~~ (Chien & Chan, 2013) and ~~into~~
99 Swedish (Argentzell et al., 2017), the tool has not been applied and tested in culturally diverse
100 settings, nor examined through a-cultural lenses (Neil et al., 2009).

101 In the Southern Region of Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, the Principles Unite Local Services
102 Assisting Recovery (PULSAR) project aimed to develop localised, practical, and collaborative
103 approaches to supporting personal recovery in primary and secondary mental health care settings.
104 The QPR was the primary outcome measure (Enticott et al., 2016; Meadows et al., 2019; Sawyer
105 et al., 2017). ~~The~~ findings showed that delivering the REFOCUS-PULSAR training intervention to
106 staff in recovery-oriented practice (ROP) had a small but significant effect towards improving
107 consumers' self-rated recovery based on the QPR. This is the only ~~existing~~ study ~~internationally to~~
108 ~~date to demonstrate~~ the impact of this staff training on consumer-rated recovery outcomes. The
109 current research presents ~~the~~ findings of a qualitative pilot sub-study of the PULSAR project that
110 examined the ~~QPR's~~ cross-cultural relevance and appropriateness ~~of the QPR tool~~ in assessing
111 personal recovery among participants from two CALD communities: Iranian and Burmese.

112 2. Method

113 This sub-study included individual face-to-face semi-structured interviews with General Practitioners
114 (GPs) and CALD patients, aged 18-75 years, receiving mental health care from primary care clinics.

Commented [JS5]: REFOCUS-PULSAR not yet introduced

115 2.1 Study Participants and Recruitment

116 The study setting included two primary care clinics in the outer suburbs of Melbourne, which were
117 cluster sites in the main PULSAR project. Both sites serviced CALD communities that included
118 refugees and asylum seekers and which, largely due to English proficiency challenges, posed
119 difficulties in recruiting participants for the main PULSAR study (Enticott et al., 2016). This sub-study
120 therefore sought to examine specific aspects of recovery-oriented practice among CALD groups
121 attending these clinics to better understand ~~the needs of~~ diverse patient groups' needs. In
122 consultations with the GPs, Iran and Myanmar were ~~selected identified~~ as being predominant
123 ~~cultures source countries~~ at the two clinics, both of which ~~represent refugee source countries and~~
124 are among the fastest-growing 'lower-ranked ~~countries of birth~~ countries' in ~~the state of~~ Victoria
125 (Iran - increasing by 68%, Myanmar - increasing by 213%) (State of Victoria, 2013).

126 Participants were purposively sampled and recruited as follows:

- 127 a) One GP was ~~purposively~~ recruited from each of the two PULSAR cluster sites with high CALD
128 populations. The GPs, who were already enrolled as participants in the main PULSAR project,
129 were contacted through the PULSAR Team, and the study proposal ~~for the study~~ was explained
130 to them.
- 131 b) Patient participants, aged 18-75 years and receiving mental health care, were recruited through
132 their GPs at the clinics. Eligibility criteria included: being able to provide informed consent; being
133 patients of ~~the~~ participating GPs; being from Iran, or Myanmar/Burma (based on ~~country of~~ birth
134 country, language, or both); having a recent mental health plan, ~~or~~ a recent ~~review of a~~ mental
135 health care plan review, ~~and/or~~ having continually received ~~any class of~~ antidepressant
136 medication ~~on a continuing basis~~ as treatment for a mental illness, ~~and/or or people with~~ having
137 ~~been a diagnosis of~~ advised with a mental disorder(s). GPs provided ~~a~~ flyers to eligible
138 patients to introduce the study. Interested individuals were given a more detailed information
139 sheet describing the study and tasks before consent was requested. All materials, including the

140 QPR, were provided in ~~the~~ participants' native languages. Participants were informed that ~~the~~
141 interviews would be conducted in their preferred language ~~of preference~~.

Commented [LH6]: What was the process of translation for the QPR?

142 2.2 Data Collection and Analysis

143 GPs participated in ~~a~~ 30-minute individual semi-structured interviews (by UO) at their clinic ~~intended,~~
144 ~~the purpose of which was~~ to explore and record their general views on personal recovery and the
145 QPR tool in ~~the following~~ key areas: the ~~relevance of the~~ QPR measure's relevance among CALD
146 patients; its applicability with ~~their his/her~~ own patients; and potential cultural and linguistic difficulties
147 or issues that may arise in using the QPR with CALD communities.

Commented [JS7]: What is UO?

Formatted: Font: Italic

148 A professional translation company was hired to translate (including back-translation procedures)
149 the QPR. However, the quality of the translation qualitys was considered poor by the interviewers
150 for both languages. In their view, the lack of lacking topic and content expertise in public health and
151 mental health wereas a key concerns. The two interviewers – a Burmese general practitioner and
152 an Iranian clinical psychologist – who were fluent in both English and their own language and had
153 both clinical and research experience, were able to identify translation problems and amend the
154 questionnaire before commencing recruitment and data collection.

Commented [DB8]: Some of this info could've been presented earlier, mainly that the translation was delivered by a company

155 Patients participated in ~~a~~ one-hour, individual, semi-structured interviews conducted in their native
156 language or in English, based on their preference, by a Persian- or Burmese-speaking research
157 assistant. ~~The~~ interviews were conducted at ~~the~~ clinics and commenced with ~~the~~ participants first
158 completing the self-administered QPR. Patients were then asked about: 1) their experience ~~in terms~~
159 ~~of with~~ the QPR ~~question's's~~ ease of use and clarity ~~and ease of use of questions,~~ and their
160 perspectives about their general knowledge and conceptual understanding ~~of the concept~~ of
161 personal recovery; 2) each item on the QPR, including any cultural and linguistic difficulties or issues
162 encountered in completing them; and 3) their views on possible benefits and application of using the
163 QPR use. ~~C~~The completed QPRs were not collected by ~~the~~ researchers as ~~their~~ QPR responses
164 were not the present study's focus ~~of the study~~.

165 All interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed in ~~the~~ their original language, ~~and~~ non-English
166 transcripts were subsequently translated into English for analysis. Framework analysis ~~according to~~
167 ~~Ritchie and Spencer~~ (Ritchie et al., 2014; Ritchie & Spencer, 1994) was used to analyse ~~the~~
168 qualitative data.

Commented [LH9]: If the professional translation was viewed as inadequate at times, was the translation into English supported again by the interviewees?

Commented [DB10]: By whom? To clarify, qualitative data analysis was performed *after* translation? Was the potential for mistranslation minimised? This strikes me as a potential weak spot that reviewers might dig into.

169
170
171 A thematic framework developed from literature reviews was refined using ~~the~~ transcripts, ~~and a~~
172 coding frame ~~was~~ developed, ~~which was cross-checked and cross-checked, and~~ refined by team
173 members to ensure quality and integrity. Transcripts were coded using NVivo 11 Pro software (QSR
174 International, 2016) where nodes and sub-nodes were generated. ~~Chartings of the themes and the~~
175 ~~cases, as well as their mappings~~ Charting and mapping of themes and cases were also done; ~~and~~
176 thereafter ~~the~~ findings were presented and interpreted, using a deductive approach.

Commented [LH11]: Does this need a ref?

177 The ethno-cultural background of the team collecting ~~the~~ data included: Australian (n=2), Japanese
178 (n=1), Nigerian (n=1), ~~Myanmar-Burmese~~ (n=1) and Iranian (n=1). The Nigerian, Burmese, and
179 Iranian ~~researchers-interviewers (the interviewers)~~ had training as ~~a~~ a social worker, ~~a~~ a medical
180 doctor, and ~~a~~ a clinical psychologist, respectively, and had both clinical and research experience,
181 which informed the interview process.

182 3. Results

183 All data ~~for the study~~ were collected between September and October 2016; 11 participants,
184 including two GPs and nine patients (five males and four females), were interviewed. Interviews with
185 GPs were generally shorter in duration (averaging about 20 minutes) whereas those with patients
186 were longer (mean = 90.5 minutes; range 25 – 200 minutes). Both GP interviews were conducted in
187 English, as were two ~~of the nine~~ patient interviews. ~~Responses from the participants~~ Participant
188 responses are presented in line with the thematic framework used for the coding (Ritchie et al., 2014;
189 Ritchie & Spencer, 1994).

190 3.1 GP Participants

191 **3.1.1 Demographic characteristics**

192 The two GPs were immigrants from England and Iran, ~~who have each with~~ extensive experience
193 working with CALD communities, including refugee ~~populations~~. No further details are provided to
194 ensure confidentiality in the context of a small sample size.

195 **3.1.2 Perspectives on ~~the prevalence of mental illness~~ prevalence among CALD**
196 **communities**

197 Both GPs reported very high mental illness prevalence ~~of mental illness~~ among CALD communities
198 in their respective clinics, possibly related to their migration experience. For example:

199 *“... within the refugee groups specifically it's quite high. ~~I would say~~ [...] at least sort of*
200 *half the patients would have some kind of mental health issue [...] clinical depression or*
201 *anxiety, ~~and disorder~~; [...] and then also on top of that you've got sort of PTSD type stuff*
202 *as well.” [GP-01]*

203 *“I reckon it's ... very high prevalence, because, as far as I see my patients, most of them*
204 *[have] some degree of mental health. Some of them or probably most of them [have] all*
205 *of these mental issues from home, and then they migrate to Australia because of the...*
206 *the distance being away from the family, visa concern, and also, the background that*
207 *they have, their mental health deteriorate[s] very bad[ly].” [GP-02]*

208 **3.1.3 Differences in ~~issues-mental-illness~~ between CALD and non-CALD consumers**

209 The contexts and experiences contributing to mental illness were reported by GPs to vary
210 significantly between CALD and non-CALD communities, and within CALD communities. The stigma
211 and discrimination associated with mental illness was also reported to be an important concern
212 among CALD communities.

213 "Most of the patients I am seeing are Iranian and [another non-Australian culture], and
214 there is big difference between [another non-Australian culture] and Iranian [...]. If I want
215 to explain about the [other culture] patients [...] mental issues are something that don't
216 have any meaning [...] some of them are ashamed, ashamed of what they're
217 experiencing, The Iranian, ...they know about mental issues. Some of them, got
218 treatment before in Iran, and although, still there is a barrier between the GP and them,
219 for expressing all of their emotions and their concerns... On the other hand, Australian
220 patients are completely different. They come in and ask for treatment." [GP-02]

221 The GPs described their patients as having had a diverse range of distressing experiences
222 depending on the circumstances of their country of origin e.g., impacts of war and experiences of
223 war, torture, domestic violence, and rape. Furthermore, language and cultural differences can
224 present challenges for GPs to gain trust and respond appropriately to individual needs.

225 Differences between CALD and non-CALD patients in relation to mental health services reported by
226 GPs included: lower health literacy, poorer medical history, needing to adjust to a new social and
227 cultural environments (new culture and society), language and communication barriers, as well as
228 potentially distressing issues around immigration status in that most CALD patients are on
229 temporary bridging visas, which allows people to remain in Australia as an asylum seeker whilst
230 their application for refugee status is being determined.

231 "I think probably health literacy is a big one [...] On the one hand, there is adjustment
232 to [a] new culture, new society, and so talking about mental health can sometimes be a
233 very impractical thing [that] doesn't really help them pay their bills [...] other issue is the
234 barriers around language which is using interpreters" [GP-01]

235 "#if you want to send Iranian and [another non-Australian culture] patients to [a]
236 counsellor or [a] psychiatrist, they reckon that, oh, it has effect on my future; and for
237 immigrants, they reckon that, oh, does it affect my case? [...] Yeah, the immigration

Commented [JS12]: Is this referring to Iranian, non-Iranian, or non-Australian culture?

Formatted: Highlight

238 status, this is really something strange here, but this is something that the Australian
239 Aussies, [don't] have..." [GP-02]

240 Poor health systems in ~~their~~ countries of origin resulting in improper diagnosis and treatments were
241 also reported by ~~the~~ GPs to be specific to service users from CALD communities.

242 "I think up till now they have multiple medical problems, and very little medical
243 history....and, it's going through all that process and then on top of that, making sure to
244 remember to look after mental health issues. [...] and often it is dealing with their key
245 medical issues, or even chronic issues that have not really been treated." [GP-01]

246 3.1.4 Available options towards ~~a~~ more culturally responsive mental health services

247 ~~While The~~ GPs reported ~~the~~ lacking of a guidelines or protocols en for service provision ~~for to~~ CALD
248 patients, ~~but~~ they also reported some resources available to them, ~~such as~~: culturally diverse staff
249 background ~~of staff~~; culturally-specific counselling services; psychological and psychiatric services;
250 interpreters; support groups; case managers; and referral services. GPs ~~S~~ also described the need
251 for ~~a~~ safe spaces and care continuity ~~of care~~.

252 3.1.5 Conceptualization of personal recovery

253 One GP talked about recovery as follows:

254 "I suppose I view it as, as an approach to ...working with someone to help them become
255 more functional, in terms of ...addressing their mental health issues, and being able to,
256 ...more... self-manage... I guess it is... about...achieving goals together, so it's more of
257 collaborative I think approach? [...]. It's an important shift ... about...achieving goals
258 together, so it's more of collaborative.... Because I think, curative and clinical approach
259 can be seen as non-ending, and I think it does sort of empower the... ~~the~~ patient." [GP-
260 01]

261 This ~~se~~ same GP also pointed out that adapting to recovery-oriented care may be a challenge among
262 communities that are more familiar with ~~the~~ medicalised treatment models of mental health care,
263 where there is an expectation of a 'fix':

264 *"Well I think it's, it's again the issue of, of introducing those kinds of concepts. First,*
265 *you've got language barrier, and already you've got low health literacies, so I think; and,*
266 *and also, maybe there is a medicalised kind of model that within this group there has*
267 *been over-reliance on more curative services, so; and then the expectation often is: you*
268 *fix my problem. So, I think it ~~it's~~ could be a challenge now. [GP-01]*

269 3.1.6 Relevance of QPR ~~instrument~~ among CALD consumers - benefits and barriers for use

270 Both GPs generally agreed that the QPR is relevant to CALD patients with benefits including: helps
271 identify needs and set goals for recovery; touches on different aspects of recovery; empowers both
272 the GP and the patient to actively manage ~~their~~ mental health; assists in referral; and can ~~enable~~
273 ~~foster the sharing of shared~~ responsibility between ~~the~~ GPs and ~~the~~ patients.

274 *"...it's probably helpful as a tool, to make it more objective [...] and then maybe access*
275 *after some time to see whether there is any improvement, and may also then help to*
276 *facilitate, referral because sometimes they're quite [...] unwilling." [GP-01]*

277 Nevertheless, two issues were identified by ~~the~~ GP participants as challenges: time, and
278 comprehension difficulties due to cross-cultural conceptual differences and language barriers.

279 *"I think they do take a long time to fill in. [...] so, I think the 10-15 minutes appointments*
280 *is not, doesn't really work. I think fortunately within the refugee health we do, we do have*
281 *longer time, but then also with interpreter it's sort of makes it more, more, you know...."*
282 *[GP-01]*

283 *"especially for women, I reckon it is a bit, bit difficult, because, ...some of the questions*
284 *for example, ah "I can take charge of my life", for them it is a bit strange. Or, "I am able*
285 *to access independent support". For them everything is family." [GP-02]*

286 "It can be relevant, if they can understand the question correctly, and answer properly.

287 [...] [For] [s]ome of them [...] [t]he concept is different."²⁸⁶ [GP-02]

288

289 3.2 Patient participants

290 3.2.1 **Demographic and socio-economic characteristics**

291 As presented in Table 1, ~~the~~ patient participants ranged in age from 24 to 51 years, and ~~a little~~ just
292 over half (55.6%) were male. Five were single, two married, and one each were separated and
293 widowed. Five had lived in Australia for over three years, while ~~the rest others~~ were relatively new
294 arrivalshad arrived more recently. ~~Education l~~Level of education was variable and tended to be
295 higher among Clinic One participants.

296 ----- insert Table 1 here -----

297 3.2.2 **General views and knowledge/understanding of mental illness and personal recovery**

298 Patient participants generally expressed low ~~levels of knowledge and~~ understanding of mental health
299 problems and their potential causes. Nevertheless, many acknowledged that stressors, ~~such~~
300 ~~as~~including those associated with migration and trauma, can potentially contribute to mental ill-
301 health.

302 "I [...] used to think that a person with mental health problems is actually mental
303 (crazy).... Now, I would think that person must have been through a lot [...] Migration,
304 leaving her country, etc. could be some examples which might have impacted on her
305 mental wellbeing." [D-03]

306 Almost all patient participants had very little or no knowledge about the concept of personal recovery.
307 When asked, they either responded that they had no idea, or had heard about it but did not know
308 what it meant, ~~or~~. However, some referred to it as a process rather than an outcome.

Commented [JS13]: Needs work

309 *"It gives me a sense that he [had] before [a] problem with mental health. Now he is*
310 *recovering. That's what I understand."* [R-01]

311 Nevertheless, some participants had an understanding and views about recovery that align with the
312 personal recovery paradigm:

313 *"For example, here I think about recovery from both physical and mental point of views.*
314 *I mean financial issues are also included. It's not just mental problems overall so I can*
315 *have a clear mind to think about social things properly. They are together. But here, it*
316 *just says "recovering", which isn't clear."* [D-02]

317 **3.2.3 Experiences using the QPR**

318 After completing the QPR, ~~the~~ patient participants ~~were generally of the view~~ position was generally
319 that the instrument was useful and relevant in helping them reflect and refocus on their mental health
320 situations. For example:

321 *"No it is not very difficult to understand. [...] This ~~this~~ questionnaire helps them to think*
322 *about their mental health situation. And it also helped me to think about myself."* [R-01]

323 However, the extent to which the item's' interpretation and relevance ~~of the items is are~~ linked to
324 culture versus personal perspectives and experience was still unclear for some participants:

325 *"I think these items depend on individuals more than on cultures. I think these are more*
326 *like personal questions rather than culturally-related questions."* [D-02]

327 *"Those questions, Ah... people have different feeling, those might be suitable for some*
328 *people, but might not suitable for some. It [...] would be not good to force to use it. There*
329 *will be no benefit [...] From the cultural aspect, this is [a] psychological thing. So, I think*
330 *for those who have psychological issues, those are very essential questions."* [R-03]

331 **3.2.4 Clarity and interpretation of QPR items**

332 ~~The P~~patient responses about the QPR item's' clarity and relevance ~~of the QPR items~~ are consistent
333 with ~~the observations of the~~ GP participant's' observations. Despite the potential relevance of the
334 QPR and the general feeling that it is culturally acceptable and understandable, some patient
335 participants reported difficulties understanding specific items ~~_of the instrument~~ or had different
336 interpretations.

337 *"I had difficulty with the translations. I could not understand them. I did not understand*
338 *what it means by independent support, does that mean I can do my things independently*
339 *on my own?" [D-02]*

340 Some ~~of the concepts posing comprehension~~ challenges ~~regarding comprehension~~ included
341 ~~concepts such as~~ recovery, independent support, purposeful life, how recovery will help challenge
342 people's notions of getting better, and possibly ~~the accuracy of the~~ translation accuracy.

343 For some participants there also seemed to be problems applying ~~the~~ statements to ~~the~~ timeframes
344 (ie. "at the present time, in particular over the last 7 days") and interpreting the response options
345 (*strongly disagree* to *agree strongly*) ~~to within this given~~ timeframes. Furthermore, understanding
346 and establishing ~~the relevance of the items'~~ relevance to their lives seemed problematic for some
347 respondents e.g., item 17 regarding the recovery process, item 12 regarding taking charge of my
348 life, and ~~question item~~ 15 regarding sensitivity towards others.

349 The idiosyncrasies in ~~the some QPR item's'~~ interpretations ~~of some of the QPR items~~ are presented
350 in Table 2, ~~and demonstrating~~ the need for careful review ~~of item's' of the face validity of the items,~~
351 as well as how they translate conceptually across cultures.

352 ----- insert Table 2 here -----

353 The analysis indicates that some ~~of the~~ interpretation issues were socio-culturally driven. For
354 instance, with Q4 (*I feel part of society*), while one participant reported feeling part of society rather

355 than isolated, another person read the item differently. The following comment was also made, which
356 speaks to how 'society' can be interpreted as a general and global construct or culture-specific, and
357 highlights ~~the impact of~~ migration impacts and cultural differences contributing to a sense of experience
358 of loneliness.

359 *"I'm a lonely isolated person if I'd tell you that I'm social I would be lying. This's not my*
360 *type of society that I can say I belong to it. I'm on a bridging visa; I'm not a part of the*
361 *society yet. [...] I'd still be an isolated individual within the Iranian community..." [D-01]*

362 In relation to explaining his/her/their interpretation of Q6 (I feel my life has a purpose), one Burmese
363 participant explained in this way, highlighting ~~the~~ consistently close connections with nature among
364 Burmese participants:

365 *"Yes, I have a purpose for the future. Purpose, future is something like, if I were a tree, I*
366 *should be a tree with full of fruit, and should also give a shade for anyone who come and*
367 *rest under me." [R-03]*

368 The importance of religion and spirituality was also raised by some participants - as ~~was/were~~ other
369 aspects of life, ~~such as like~~ sexuality.

370 *"Good. I think God would be another item you could add to your list here. Because for*
371 *me and for so many others like me, when we're in a difficult physical or emotional state,*
372 *one of the first things we'd think about [is] God. Even our physical bodies would refer to*
373 *God. I think this might be helpful." [D-01]*

374 *"Yeah, it could be (like) about ... your sexuality? Yeah, this is not included in here." [R-*
375 *04].*

376 There were also some indications that completing the QPR together with a GP would yield better
377 information rather than simply giving it to ~~the~~ patients. To illustrate, as noted above, some
378 participants found several ~~of the~~ items difficult to understand until they were further explained ~~to~~

379 ~~them~~. One participant also highlighted the importance of describing the purpose and benefits of such
380 ~~a tools~~ to encourage ~~the patients'~~ engagement ~~in the process~~.

381 *"I think so, it is fine to use for patients. Will be OK but you need to explain to get their*
382 *interest and to be acceptable. It will be not OK, if we say so bluntly..." [R-03]*

383 3.3 Comparing Patient vs GP Responses

384 When comparing ~~the~~ GP and patient responses, consistencies were evident on issues ~~such~~
385 ~~as including the relevance of the~~ QPR's relevance among CALD patients, implications for future use,
386 as well as barriers toward using it - albeit for different reasons in some cases.

387 ~~The~~ participants ~~were of the view~~ communicated that the QPR could be helpful for patients and ~~the~~
388 GPs. While expressing optimism on its future use, acceptability and cultural context, participants
389 also suggested useful changes ~~for making the to~~ optimise instrument ~~more relevant~~ relevance, ~~such~~
390 ~~as including~~ accurate translation to ~~the relevant language of the~~ patients' relevant language.

391 *"I think it's a good way forward. I think, ...having material in different languages will be*
392 *very helpful... I think time will be the main issue I don't know whether it's, it's possible to*
393 *simplify some of the... tools? abbreviate them, if they can be simpler, just... bearing*
394 *in mind, low health literacy and also, the additional time needed to using interpreter. I*
395 *think, if that, that can be taken into consideration, I think it will be more, the tools will be*
396 *probably, more readily accepted." [GP-01]*

397 4. Discussion

398 Issues related to the QPR's cross-cultural relevance ~~of the QPR~~ explored in this study included:
399 ~~knowledge and~~ understanding and knowledge of ~~the mental health~~ concepts ~~of mental health~~ and
400 personal recovery; ~~the item~~ content and expression ~~of QPR items~~; the ~~relevance of the~~ QPR's
401 relevance among CALD communities; barriers to its use; ~~and~~ implications; and recommendations
402 for ~~its~~ future use.

403 Though a small sample, GPs' views were congruent in reporting high [mental illness](#) prevalence of
404 ~~mental illness~~ among their CALD communities and consistent with existing evidence among
405 refugees/asylum seekers (Khavarpour & Rissel, 1997). ~~The findings is-are~~ also in line with the
406 expected impact [of environmental changes \(i.e., new settlement\)](#) on mental health ~~of a change in~~
407 ~~environment or new settlement as is typical among~~ typically experienced by immigrants and refugees
408 (George et al., 2015). These disruptions in mental health are in part due to stress-related factors,
409 ~~such as including~~ crisis and post-crisis situations from home countries, acculturation, economic
410 uncertainty, perceived social isolation and discrimination in Australia, immigration uncertainty and
411 separation from family and familiar surroundings (State of Victoria, 2016). Therefore, ~~the changes~~ in
412 environment, society and culture may ~~be contributing contribute~~ to ~~the CALD patients'~~ current mental
413 health ~~situation concerns of the CALD patients~~.

414 Reported differences between CALD and non-CALD patients by GPs, ~~such as include~~ poorer
415 medical history information, the impact of weaker health systems within ~~CALD~~ countries-of-origin,
416 and poorer health-seeking behaviours, concur with earlier findings from a similar study (Alegria et
417 al., 2010). CALD patients were reported to be less likely to seek medical help for their mental illness
418 compared to their non-CALD peers. Patients from countries with poor health systems, diagnostic
419 and treatment procedures, low health literacy, and high stigma towards mental illnesses, are less
420 likely to seek mental health assistance when needed (Flaherty & Donato-Hunt, 2012). These
421 influences are largely due to ~~lack of~~ awareness and ~~non-availability of services~~, among other
422 factors (Dow, 2011).

423 ~~An One of the~~ observed challenges in operationalising personal recovery-oriented approaches
424 among CALD patients was adaptation to the new concept, as noted by one ~~of the~~ GPs. This finding
425 aligns with [Hungerford and Fox's \(2014\) study](#) (Hungerford & Fox, 2014), which found that
426 uncertainties among service providers, and especially service users, constitute ~~a~~ challenges in
427 operationalising recovery-oriented approaches. Hence, these authors suggested ~~a~~ more targeted
428 practice-focused education around the concept for both ~~the~~ service providers and ~~the service~~ users.
429 Tension between personal and clinical definitions of personal recovery from patients' perspectives,

Commented [LH14]: Hyperlink this to reference list so you can remove citation repeat

430 as previously observed by Davies and Gray (2015) (Davies & Gray, 2015), was revealed in the study,
431 with some participants having divergent views on the fundamental definition of personal recovery
432 concepts (Anthony, 1993; Leamy et al., 2016). There seemed to be difficulties in distinguishing
433 between personal and clinical recovery ~~and this is~~ a common problem in trying to operationalise the
434 recovery paradigm.

Commented [LH15]: Same as above

435 ~~The~~ GPs mentioned ~~the absence of~~ lacking clear guidelines lacking on how to provide services
436 effectively and efficiently to the CALD and refugee community presenting with mental illness. The
437 Australian National Human and Medical Research Council's cultural competency guide (2006)
438 focuses on general health services and does not specifically address mental health issues as they
439 relate to CALD groups. Having mental health ~~specific~~ guidelines is consistent with some
440 recommendations from other related studies (Henderson et al., 2011; Wohler & Dantas, 2017).

441 Patient participants generally found the QPR relevant and useful, but GP participants were
442 concerned about the time taken to complete the tool. While a brief (15-item) QPR has been proposed
443 (Law et al., 2014; Williams, Leamy, Pesola, et al., 2015), its psychometric performance and
444 robustness across cultures have yet to be confirmed. Language and communication barriers
445 ~~was~~ were another emergent theme, especially in relation to ~~the~~ explanations and interpretations of
446 ~~some of the~~ instrument's concepts and items ~~used in the instrument~~. Use of interpreters may ~~be a~~
447 ~~solution to solve~~ these issues, but is likely to be expensive and time ~~consuming~~. Instrument
448 ~~translation of the instrument~~ into ~~the~~ relevant languages is also another possible solution to ~~the~~
449 language and communication barriers (Chien & Chan, 2013). Examples of similar instrument's'
450 translations resulting in high validity, reliability, and acceptability include the K6 and K10 (Tsefaye et
451 al., 2010) and the General Health Questionnaire (Montazeri et al., 2003). ~~There are other examples~~
452 ~~of translations of similar instruments resulting in high validity, reliability and acceptability of the~~
453 ~~instruments such as the K6 and K10 (Tsefaye et al., 2010) and the General Health Questionnaire~~
454 ~~(Montazeri et al., 2003).~~ In this study, the QPR and other relevant documents were translated to ~~the~~
455 participant's' local languages ~~of the participants~~, and research assistants fluent in these languages
456 conducted ~~the~~ interviews. Again, although there is documented evidence on the QPR's high validity

457 and reliability ~~of the QPR~~ (Law et al., 2014; Williams, Leamy, Bird, et al., 2015), there was
458 misinterpretation of some ~~of the~~ items, ~~that requires~~ requiring further examination.

459 From ~~a~~ cultural relevance perspectives, the study found that life goals, which are important for self-
460 determination, vary across cultures and social-standing. Family reputation was also found to play ~~a~~
461 significant roles in some cultures. The QPR, in its current form, takes an individualistic approach to
462 health and wellbeing that is common across most Western societies but may be inconsistent with
463 non-Western societies' ~~the~~ socio-cultural nature ~~of non-Western societies~~.

464 This study was the first to translate and pilot test the QPR ~~with a view~~ to compare ~~and contrast~~
465 ~~the~~ each item's cross-cultural relevance and appropriateness ~~of each item in~~ an the Australian ~~country~~
466 context. Nevertheless, some study limitations contribute to the need for caution in interpreting ~~the~~
467 findings. ~~For instance,~~ although ~~while~~ a professional translation company was hired to translate
468 ~~(including back-translation procedures)~~ the QPR, ~~the translation~~ quality ~~of the translations~~ was
469 considered poor by ~~the~~ interviewers. Fortunately, ~~the interviewers for both languages.~~ In their view,
470 ~~the lack of topic and content expertise in public health and mental health was a key concern.~~
471 ~~However, the two interviewers — a Burmese general practitioner and an Iranian clinical psychologist~~
472 ~~— who were fluent in both English and their own language and had both clinical and research~~
473 ~~experience,~~ were able to identify translation problems and correct ~~amend~~ the questionnaire before
474 commencing recruitment and data collection. ~~This process~~ highlighting ~~ing~~ the importance of having
475 translators with sufficient content familiarity to ensure high quality translations.

476 Furthermore, this study also found that ~~the~~ issues with translation and interpretation ~~was~~ were not
477 only about sociocultural differences. The items that patient participants tended to struggle with were
478 ones that have been identified previously as lacking sufficient face validity or having ambiguous
479 wording (Argentzell et al., 2017; Law et al., 2014). QPR items found to be redundant are also shown
480 in Table 2, highlighting the importance of having high psychometric properties.

481 This pilot study was a student project for a Master of Public Health degree which consequently posed
482 ~~some~~ time constraints that 1) ~~precluded in-depth consultations to ensure appropriateness of the~~

Commented [DB16]: Some of this info could've been presented earlier, mainly that the translation was delivered by a company

Commented [DB17]: Could this not be quickly mentioned here?

Commented [DB18]: Necessary to mention in light of word count?

483 ~~translations and articulations of the QPR items~~precluded in-depth consultations to ensure QPR
484 ~~item's' translation and articulation appropriateness~~; 2) limited the extent to which ~~the~~ interviewers
485 could be supervised at the start to identify or foresee issues that may arise during ~~the~~ interview
486 ~~process~~; and 3) prevented us from continuing recruitment until we reached data saturation (Ritchie
487 et al., 2014). Consequently, two ~~particular~~ issues emerged as potentially affecting ~~the quality of the~~
488 data ~~quality~~. First, it is possible that not all ~~of the~~ participants fully understood ~~the purpose of the~~
489 ~~purpose of some of the~~ question's ~~purpose~~. This ~~potential~~ was highlighted by ~~observations such as~~
490 ~~a tendency for one or twosome~~ participant's' ~~commentss to respond~~ about the QPR's
491 appropriateness ~~of using the QPR~~ as part of 'service delivery', instead of as a ~~recovery assessment~~
492 ~~tool to assess recovery~~. We observed that the term 'recovery' was not straightforward to translate,
493 ~~as there is no direct translation into Iranian and Burmese~~. Moreover, ~~the concept of recovery – and~~
494 ~~as such~~ some ~~of the~~ interview discussions – were focused more on ~~its the~~ meaning of "recovery" to
495 ~~the~~ patients, rather than the ~~tool's~~ appropriateness and relevance ~~of the tool to in~~ assessing it. This
496 is a substantial limitation, and future research could examine how to better ~~to~~ conceptualise or
497 translate "recovery" within the ~~text of the~~ QPR, and whether doing so would improve the measure's
498 cultural appropriateness.

499 Second, due to time constraints and ~~some~~ difficulties in recruiting adequate numbers of respondents
500 from the Burmese community, the criteria for inclusion were relaxed to include ~~some~~ participants
501 who spoke Falam (Chin community) rather than Burmese, which the interviewer spoke.
502 Consequently, the Burmese group was not as homogenous as was initially planned. In addition, our
503 patient participants ranged between 24 to 51 years in age, which adds further heterogeneity to our
504 small participant sample and may also have impacted their interpretations of ~~the~~ QPR questions.

505 As a pilot study with a small sample size, this study is unable to make conclusive statements about
506 the QPR's relevance and appropriateness ~~of the QPR~~ across CALD groups. Rather, ~~the~~ findings
507 demonstrate that while overall, use of ~~a~~ recovery-based assessment tools would likely be useful and
508 welcomed by patients across cultures, more work is needed to ensure clarity and ~~the~~ cultural
509 appropriateness of ~~the~~ QPR items and ~~the~~ response options. ~~In addition, the findings suggest that~~

Commented [DB19]: This is a critical comment and one that I have been concerned about through this whole paper, I would have mentioned this much earlier than the second last page. At least at the start of the discussion.

510 ~~the~~ cultural appropriateness of the QPR could be improved ~~by through the addition of added~~
511 questions pertaining to family reputation. This study was able to expose ~~some of the~~ diverse ways
512 in which constructs ~~such as like~~ mental health and recovery are conceptualised, how the QPR items
513 can be (mis)interpreted, and how ~~the~~ interpretations can be influenced by socio-cultural norms and
514 expectations. As such, ~~recommended the~~ directions for future research on mental health
515 management and ~~QPR use of the QPR~~ among CALD groups are clearly ~~laid out~~ relayed.

516 5. Conclusion

517 This pilot study highlights how socio-cultural norms and constructs can influence ~~the~~ interpretations
518 of well-developed and evaluated instruments ~~such as like~~ the QPR. While ~~a~~ careful reviews and
519 adaptations of the QPR tool across CALD groups ~~is are~~ necessary, ~~the~~ findings support the ~~QPR's~~
520 potential utility ~~of the QPR~~ toward more culturally responsive mental health care.

521 6. Declarations

522 6.1 Ethics approval and consent to participate

523 Ethics approval for the study was obtained through the Monash Health Human Research Ethics
524 Committee (Reference Number: 16325A) and site authorisations ~~was were~~ received from the two
525 clinics. All participants provided written consent to participate in the study.

526 6.2 Consent for publication

527 No individual's data is presented in the manuscript to necessitate consent for publication.

528 6.3 Availability of data and material

529 Data generated and analysed during this study are not publicly available due to risk of compromising
530 participant confidentiality but are available from ~~the~~ corresponding authors on reasonable request.

Commented [DB20]: What about spirituality or some of the other things that have been discussed? Would probably mention again.

Commented [DB21]: This paper has essential discussion around the use of the QPR in CALD, including strengths and limitations. However, it would have been nice to explicitly outline which items should be further reviewed in these populations (e.g. item 4 and 6 should be re-worked/re-translated/analysed for face validity in a larger and more homogenous CALD population). I know this is flagged in the appendix but it would give people more reason to check the appendix.

And then go on to explicitly state what should be potentially added to the QPR; in the end there's only a recommendation for family reputation although a lot more was discussed.

Commented [LH22]: In echoing Dylan's sentiments, I would have thought a recommendation centring around inclusion of an item relating to religion would have been quite important, as was mentioned by one of the participants

531 6.4 Competing interests

532 ~~The~~ authors declare that they have no competing interests.

533 6.5 Funding

534 This study was conducted as part of a thesis project for a MSc in Public Health for author OUC.

535 6.6 Authors' contributions

536 OUC, LB, FS and RK led ~~the study~~ development ~~and implementation~~ ~~of this study as well as the~~ ~~and~~
537 ~~preparation of this~~ manuscript ~~preparation~~. GM, VE and EWE contributed to the interpretation and
538 ~~manuscript~~ finalisation ~~of the manuscript~~. All authors contributed to the development,
539 implementation, analysis and write up.

540 6.7 Acknowledgements

541 We acknowledge the two research assistants, Ms Ashraf Hosseini and Mr Mahkawnghta Awng Shar
542 for contributing to the translation, interviews and non-English interview transcription ~~of the non-~~
543 English interviews.

544 **7. References**

545 Alegria, M., Atkins, M., Farmer, E., Slaton, E., & Stelk, W. (2010). One size does not fit all: taking
546 diversity, culture and context seriously [journal article]. *Administration and Policy in Mental*
547 *Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 37(1-2), 48-60.

548 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-010-0283-2>

549 Anthony, W. A. (1993). Recovery from mental illness: The guiding vision of the mental health service
550 system in the 1990s [Article]. *Psychosocial Rehabilitation Journal*, 16(4), 11-24.

551 [https://ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=tru](https://ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=1443865&site=eds-live&scope=site)

552 [e&db=a9h&AN=1443865&site=eds-live&scope=site](https://ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=1443865&site=eds-live&scope=site)

- 553 Argentzell, E., Hultqvist, J., Neil, S., & Eklund, M. (2017). Measuring personal recovery -
554 psychometric properties of the Swedish Questionnaire about the Process of Recovery (QPR-
555 Swe). *Nord J Psychiatry*, 71(7), 529-535. <https://doi.org/10.1080/08039488.2017.1346144>
- 556 Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2020). *Australia's population: over 7.5 million born overseas*.
557 [https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/lookup/3412.0Media%20Release12018-
558 19#:~:text=ABS%20Director%20of%20Migration%20Statistics,resident%20population%20
559 were%20born%20overseas](https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/lookup/3412.0Media%20Release12018-19#:~:text=ABS%20Director%20of%20Migration%20Statistics,resident%20population%20were%20born%20overseas).
- 560 Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2017). *Media Release - Census reveals: we're a fast changing nation*.
561 Retrieved 27 June from
562 [http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/mediareleasesbyReleaseDate/6E48F1297C9
563 5696BCA25814800DBE59?OpenDocument?OpenDocument&ref=story](http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/mediareleasesbyReleaseDate/6E48F1297C95696BCA25814800DBE59?OpenDocument?OpenDocument&ref=story)
- 564 Brijnath, B. (2015). Applying the CHIME recovery framework in two culturally diverse Australian
565 communities: Qualitative results. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 61(7), 660-667.
566 <https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764015573084>
- 567 Chien, W. T., & Chan, Z. C. Y. (2013). Chinese translation and validation of the questionnaire on the
568 process of recovery in schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders. *Research in Nursing &
569 Health*, 36(4), 400-411. <https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21549>
- 570 Davies, K., & Gray, M. (2015). Mental Health Service Users' Aspirations for Recovery: Examining
571 the Gaps between what Policy Promises and Practice Delivers [Article]. *British Journal of
572 Social Work*, 45, 45-61. <https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcv089>
- 573 De Vecchi, N., Kenny, A., & Kidd, S. (2015). Stakeholder views on a recovery-oriented psychiatric
574 rehabilitation art therapy program in a rural Australian mental health service: a qualitative
575 description [Article]. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 9(1), 1-11.
576 <https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-015-0005-y>
- 577 Dow, H. D. (2011). Migrants' mental health perceptions and barriers to receiving mental health
578 services. *Home Health Care Management & Practice*, 23(3), 176-185.
579 <http://journals.sagepub.com.ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/doi/pdf/10.1177/1084822310390876>

580 Enticott, J. C., Shawyer, F., Brophy, L., Russell, G., Fossey, E., Inder, B., Mazza, D., Vasi, S., Weller,
581 P. J., Wilson-Evered, E., Edan, V., & Meadows, G. (2016). The PULSAR primary care
582 protocol: a stepped-wedge cluster randomized controlled trial to test a training intervention
583 for general practitioners in recovery-oriented practice to optimize personal recovery in adult
584 patients. *BMC Psychiatry*, 16(1), 451. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-1153-6>

585 Flaherty, I., & Donato-Hunt, C. (2012). Cultural and family contexts for help seeking among clients
586 with cannabis, other drug and mental health issues. *Mental Health and Substance Use*, 5(4),
587 328-341.

588 George, U., Thomson, M. S., Chaze, F., & Guruge, S. (2015). Immigrant Mental Health, A Public
589 Health Issue: Looking Back and Moving Forward. *International Journal of Environmental*
590 *Research and Public Health*, 12(10), 13624-13648. <https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph121013624>

591 Henderson, S., Kendall, E., & See, L. (2011). The effectiveness of culturally appropriate interventions
592 to manage or prevent chronic disease in culturally and linguistically diverse communities: a
593 systematic literature review. *Health & social care in the community*, 19(3), 225-249.
594 <https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2524.2010.00972.x>

595 Hungerford, C., & Fox, C. (2014). Consumer's perceptions of Recovery-oriented mental health
596 services: an Australian case-study analysis [Article]. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 16(2), 209-
597 215. <https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12088>

598 Khavarpour, F., & Rissel, C. (1997). Mental health status of Iranian migrants in Sydney. *Australian*
599 *and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 31(6), 828-834.
600 <https://doi.org/10.3109/00048679709065508>

601 Kirmayer, L. J. (2012). Rethinking cultural competence. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 49(2), 149-164.
602 <https://doi.org/10.1177/1363461512444673>

603 Kleinman, A., & Benson, P. (2006). Anthropology in the clinic: The problem of cultural competency
604 and how to fix it. *Plos Medicine*, 3(10), e294. <https://doi.org/ARTN> e294
605 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030294

- 606 Lapsley, H., Nikora, L. W., & Black, R. (2002). "Kia Mauri Tau!" Narratives of Recovery From
607 *Disabling Mental Health Problems*. Mental Health Commission.
- 608 Law, H., Neil, S. T., Dunn, G., & Morrison, A. P. (2014). Psychometric properties of the questionnaire
609 about the process of recovery (QPR) [Article]. *Schizophrenia Research*, 156(2-3), 184-189.
610 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2014.04.011>
- 611 Leamy, M., Bird, V., Le Boutillier, C., Williams, J., & Slade, M. (2011). Conceptual framework for
612 personal recovery in mental health: systematic review and narrative synthesis. *The British*
613 *Journal of Psychiatry*, 199(6), 445-452.
- 614 Leamy, M., Clarke, E., Le Boutillier, C., Bird, V., Choudhury, R., MacPherson, R., Pesola, F., Sabas,
615 K., Williams, J., Williams, P., & Slade, M. (2016). Recovery practice in community mental
616 health teams: national survey. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 209(4), 340-346.
617 <https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.160739>
- 618 Lloyd, C., Waghorn, G., & Williams, P. L. (2008). Conceptualising recovery in mental health
619 rehabilitation. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 71(8), 321-328 328p.
620 [https://ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=tru](https://ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cin20&AN=105686481&site=eds-live&scope=site)
621 [e&db=cin20&AN=105686481&site=eds-live&scope=site](http://journals.sagepub.com.ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/doi/pdf/10.1177/030802260807100804)
622 <http://journals.sagepub.com.ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/doi/pdf/10.1177/030802260807100804>
- 623 Meadows, G., Brophy, L., Shawyer, F., Enticott, J. C., Fossey, E., Thornton, C. D., Weller, P. J.,
624 Wilson-Evered, E., Edan, V., & Slade, M. (2019). REFOCUS-PULSAR recovery-oriented
625 practice training in specialist mental health care: a stepped-wedge cluster randomised
626 controlled trial. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 6(2), 103-114.
- 627 Montazeri, A., Harirchi, A. M., Shariati, M., Garmaroudi, G., Ebadi, M., & Fateh, A. (2003). The 12-
628 item General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12): translation and validation study of the Iranian
629 version. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 1(1), 171-175. [https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-](https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-1-66)
630 [7525-1-66](https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-1-66)

631 National Human and Medical Research Council (Australia). (2006). *Cultural competency in health:*
632 *A guide for policy, partnerships and participation* (C. o. Australia, Ed.). National Health and
633 Medical Research Council.

634 Neil, S. T., Kilbride, M., Pitt, L., Nothard, S., Welford, M., Sellwood, W., & Morrison, A. P. (2009).
635 The questionnaire about the process of recovery (QPR): A measurement tool developed in
636 collaboration with service users [Article]. *Psychosis*, 1(2), 145-155.
637 <https://doi.org/10.1080/17522430902913450>

638 Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., McNaughton Nicholls, C., & Ormston, R. (2014). *Qualitative research practice:*
639 *a guide for social science students and researchers. Second edition.* Sage Publishing.

640 Ritchie, J., & Spencer, L. (1994). Qualitative data analysis for applied policy research. In B. A. & R.
641 G. Burgess (Eds.), *Analysing Qualitative Data* (pp. 173-194). Routledge.

642 Shanks, V., Williams, J., Leamy, M., Bird, V. J., Le Boutillier, C., & Slade, M. (2013). Measures of
643 personal recovery: a systematic review. *Psychiatr Serv*, 64(10), 974-980.
644 <https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.005012012>

645 Shawyer, F., Enticott, J. C., Brophy, L., Bruxner, A., Fossey, E., Inder, B., Julian, J., Kakuma, R.,
646 Weller, P., Wilson-Evered, E., Edan, V., Slade, M., & Meadows, G. N. (2017). The PULSAR
647 Specialist Care protocol: a stepped-wedge cluster randomized control trial of a training
648 intervention for community mental health teams in recovery-oriented practice. *BMC*
649 *Psychiatry*, 17(1), 172. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1321-3>

650 Slade, M. (2009). *Personal Recovery and Mental Illness. A Guide for Mental Health Professionals.*
651 Cambridge University Press. <https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511581649>

652 Slade, M. (2010). Measuring recovery in mental health services. *The Israel Journal Of Psychiatry*
653 *And Related Sciences*, 47(3), 206-212.
654 [https://ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true](https://ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=21149985&site=eds-live&scope=site)
655 [e&db=cmedm&AN=21149985&site=eds-live&scope=site](https://ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=21149985&site=eds-live&scope=site)

656 Slade, M., Amering, M., Farkas, M., Hamilton, B., O'Hagan, M., Panther, G., Perkins, R., Shepherd,
657 G., Tse, S., & Whitley, R. (2014). Uses and abuses of recovery: implementing recovery-

- 658 oriented practices in mental health systems. *World Psychiatry*, 13(1), 12-20.
659 <https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20084>
- 660 Slade, M., Bird, V., Le Boutillier, C., Farkas, M., Grey, B., Larsen, J., Leamy, M., Oades, L., &
661 Williams, J. (2015). Development of the REFOCUS intervention to increase mental health
662 team support for personal recovery. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 207(6), 544-550.
663 <https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.155978>
- 664 State of Victoria. (2013). *Victoria's diverse population: 2011 census*. Office of Multicultural Affairs
665 and Citizenship, Department of Premier and Cabinet.
- 666 State of Victoria. (2016). *Delivering for diversity: Cultural diversity plan 2016-2019*. State of Victoria,
667 Department of Health and Human Services.
668 <https://www2.health.vic.gov.au/about/populations/cald-health>
- 669 Tesfaye, M., Hanlon, C., Wondimagegn, D., & Alem, A. (2010). Detecting postnatal common mental
670 disorders in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: validation of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale
671 and Kessler Scales [Article]. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 122(1-2), 102-108.
672 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2009.06.020>
- 673 Williams, J., Leamy, M., Bird, V., Boutillier, C., Norton, S., Pesola, F., & Slade, M. (2015).
674 Development and evaluation of the INSPIRE measure of staff support for personal recovery
675 [Report]. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 50(5), 777-786.
676 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-014-0983-0>
- 677 Williams, J., Leamy, M., Pesola, F., Bird, V., Le Boutillier, C., & Slade, M. (2015). Psychometric
678 evaluation of the Questionnaire about the Process of Recovery (QPR). *The British Journal of*
679 *Psychiatry*, 207(6), 551-555. <https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.161695>
- 680 Wohler, Y., & Dantas, J. A. (2017). Barriers Accessing Mental Health Services Among Culturally and
681 Linguistically Diverse (CALD) Immigrant Women in Australia: Policy Implications. *Journal of*
682 *Immigrant and Minority Health*, 19(3), 697-701. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0402-6>

683

684 Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of patient participants

	Clinic One (n=5)	Clinic Two (n=4)	Total (n=9)
Gender			
Male	3 (60%)	3 (75%)	6 (67%)
Female	2 (40%)	1 (25%)	3 (33%)
Age			
20-29 years	--	2 (40%)	2 (22%)
30-39 years	3 (60%)	--	3 (33%)
40-49 years	1 (20%)	2 (40%)	3 (33%)
>=50 years	1 (20%)	--	1 (11%)
Marital status			
Single	2 (40%)	3 (75%)	5 (56%)
Married	2 (40%)	--	2 (22%)
Separated	--	1 (25%)	1 (11%)
Widowed	1 (20%)	--	1 (11%)
Country of Birth			
Iran	5 (100%)	0 (0%)	5 (56%)
Myanmar	0 (0%)	4 (100%)	4 (44%)
Years lived in Australia			
<1	1 (20%)	1 (25%)	2 (22%)
1	--	2 (50%)	2 (22%)
3	3 (60%)	--	3 (33%)
5	--	1 (25%)	1 (11%)
6	1 (20%)	--	1 (11%)
Current Living situation			
Living with family*	3 (60%)	2 (50%)	5 (56%)
Living with friends	1 (20%)	1 (25%)	2 (22%)
Living in shared accommodation	1 (20%)	1 (25%)	2 (22%)
Highest Level of Education			
Senior Secondary / High school	1 (20%)	1 (25%)	2 (22%)
<Year 10	--	1 (25%)	1 (11%)

Certificate I	--	1 (25%)	1 (11%)
Bachelor's (uncompleted)	2 (40%)	1 (25%)	3 (33%)
Bachelor's degree	1 (20%)	--	1 (11%)
Associate degree	1 (20%)	--	1 (11%)

685 * includes living with partner/children (2), with children (1), siblings (2)

Table 2. Differences in interpretation of ~~some of the~~ QPR items

Item	Differences in Interpretation
Q1. I feel better about myself	Emphasis on level of activity e.g., financial security or physical health which can be indicators of feeling better about oneself
Q3. I am able to develop positive relationships with other people	Focus on 'view' of others (as a contributing factor) as opposed to the 'nature of the relationship' itself.
Q4. I feel part of society rather than isolated	Highlights the different ways the term 'society' can be interpreted and that there can be many societies. Responses to this may depend on 'with which' society (or societies) they identify and feel is important to be part of as well as 'legal' entitlements to be part of a particular society.
Q5. I am able to assert myself	Some respondents associated asserting oneself with being confident, independent, or being able to prove oneself, which are related but may not capture all of the intentions of this statement.
Q6. I feel that my life has a purpose	Many of the Burmese responses had in common a strong reference to nature and being part of the environment.
Q7. My experiences have changed me for the better	Emphasis on being 'different' or 'disconnected' from the past self instead of 'integrating' the experiences (learning opportunity)
Q8. I have been able to come to terms with things that have happened to me in the past and move on with my life	Response option "disagree" was not considered to be the same as "not yet". A "not applicable" option was recommended. For some people , the two parts of this item may not necessarily be linked with each other.

Commented [DB23]: I've limited this table to around one example per item. Could get rid of these examples entirely if the word limit won't come down enough.

Formatted Table

Commented [DB24]: Could this be a translational issue? In English, the use of the term "society" differs by context in the sentence. However, in other languages there may be many different words for the term "society" and this then becomes more of a translational issue.

Q10. I can recognise the positive things I have done	<p>What is considered 'positive things' was not clear to all respondents.</p> <p>"In the past 7 days" resulted in one participant to focus on whether or not he/she did something positive in the past 7 days.</p> <p>"Recognise" was interpreted by some as "telling others" that they did positive things.</p>
Q11. I am able to understand myself better	<p>Important link to spirituality / religion</p>
Q12. I can take charge of my life	<p>Participants reported this item as not being clear.</p>
Q13. I am able to access independent support*	<p>The term "independent" seems to be confusing to many, particularly among the Iranian respondents. E.g., one participant interpreted this as 'being' independent rather than being able to access support when necessary.</p> <p>One respondent focused on the term 'access' and saw this as being a 'taker'</p>
Q14. I can weigh up the pros and cons of psychiatric treatment*	<p>Focus seems to be on the quality of the physician <u>quality</u> or treatment received rather than a generally understanding of the benefits and possible risks of psychiatric treatment.</p>
Q15. I feel my experiences have made me more sensitive towards others*	<p>Many interpreted this as <u>being</u> sensitive or fragile rather than their ability to be understanding towards other people facing difficulties.</p>
Q16. Meeting people who have had similar experiences makes me feel better*	<p>How the respondents interpreted 'similar experience' seemed to be broader than those experiencing similar mental health issues.</p>

Q17. My recovery has helped challenge other people's views about getting better*	Some respondents did not understand how their own personal recovery was related to other people's views and therefore did not understand the question (or its objective)
--	--

Q19. I can actively engage with life	Focus seems to be on the term 'active' and it needing to be 'constant' over time.
--------------------------------------	---

* Items found to have insufficient face validity or ambiguous working (Law et al., 2014)